The Empathic Communication Workbook

 $\bigcirc \bigcirc \bigcirc \bigcirc$





INTRODUCTION:

Engaging with others in the helping fields around empathic communication is one of my favorite things to do. There are three main reasons for this. First, because it is a practice. There is no push to be "competent" and certainly no goal of perfection. One of my favorite Zen teachers, Cheri Huber, says "What you practice is what you have". In regards to empathic communication, the practice itself is the goal- not the outcome of the practice. This is a relief for my "little-kid" brain that always thinks I have to be better than I am at everything. The second reason is that practicing empathic communication isn't just good for our work with patients- it is good for our relationships with our family, friends and co-workers too. I am practicing empathic communication all the time, in how I talk with my kids, my husband, my sister and my colleagues, as well as my patients. There are unlimited practice opportunities for empathic communication, as well as unlimited relational benefits. The third reason is because I always end up learning as much from others as they may from me. In every workshop, I have grown in ways I could not have predicted because of what others in the course have taught me and inspired in me.

This guide is designed to be an interactive, workbook-type, learning tool. I, personally, love these types of workbooks. I've done probably 15 personal growth oriented workbooks in my life since was 13! I've found that they help you to reflect on and apply the information that you are learning in the moment, as well as break up the monotony of reading section after section. I hope you find this format as helpful as I do. With that said, I like to think of everything that I develop as evolving. So, if you have suggestions, comments or questions, I'd love to hear them. Please share them with me during a workshop or email me with your thoughts. Lastly, for a curated list of many other exceptional empathy related resources, please visit my resources website at: **www.emorrisonconsulting.com** and look at the section under "Stigma & Empathy".

AUTHOR:

Elizabeth Morrison is a Licensed Clinical Social Worker and a Master Addictions Counselor. She is the CEO and one of the principal consultants of EM Consulting, Inc. For more information on Elizabeth and EM Consulting, see <u>www.emorrisonconsulting.com</u>.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS:

I would like to thank Erica Palmer, MSW for her contributions in editing, organizing and formatting of this guide. Whenever I have an idea that needs form and shape, I turn to Erica to collaborate with and I'm so grateful for her thoughtful input.

NOTICE:

Please feel free to copy or distribute this entire manual or any individual part of it. Attribution to EM Consulting is appreciated. If you would like to use parts of this guide, please email Elizabeth at: **elizabeth@emorrisonconsulting.com**, for the guide in Word format.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION TO EMPATHIC COMMUNICATION	4
Barriers and Supports to Empathic Communication	6
Concerns About Empathic Communication	10
TECHNICAL SKILLS	
Open Ended Questions	13
A Quick Word on Closed and Narrow Questions	15
Empathic reflection	16
Focus on Strengths	
Eliciting	21
Normalizing	24
Acknowledging Feelings	26
Body Language and Tone of Voice	29
Putting it All Together	
10 Tips for Empathic Communication	
Empathic Presence	
What To Do When We Don't Feel the Empathic Presence	
Empathic Communication Resources	



INTRODUCTION TO EMPATHIC COMMUNICATION



Empathy is the only human superpower - it can shrink distance, cut through social and power hierarchies, transcend differences, and provoke political and social change.

- Elizabeth Thomas



RESEARCH

Research on empathy and its effects on patient experience and treatment outcomes originated in the field of psychology during the 1950s with the work of Carl Rogers, who can largely be credited for establishing the foundational importance of empathy in the behavioral health field. His research demonstrated the deep power of "unconditional positive regard" or what we sometimes call "radical acceptance" or, more simply, "empathy". He found that unless a therapist established an empathic relationship with their client, there would be little they could do to provide help. He was able to rigorously research something we all likely know in our hearts- that if we don't feel care from someone, we do not share freely, take their suggestions, or trust the information they give us. This research and related research that has come after, resulted in the American Psychological Association Task Force on Evidence- Based Therapy Relationships designating empathy as an evidence-based element of the therapeutic relationship.

More recently, particularly over the last 20 years, there has been a significant expansion of interest in studying the connection between empathy and healing in the medical field. The empathy literature in medical sciences is varied and fascinating. Research has shown that when medical providers (and their teams) effectively convey empathy, it lowers blood sugar levels in diabetics, improve success in weight loss, lessens the duration and severity of the common cold, increases weight loss in those with obesity, and lowers self-reported pain levels. Research also demonstrates that communicating with empathy decreases symptoms of depression, anxiety, and problematic alcohol use. Empathic communication is also related to decreased medical errors and improvements in diagnostic accuracy. Conversely, conveying a lack of empathy, often characterized by judgment, has been shown to lower adherence to treatment recommendations, increase weight gain in diabetics, increase self-reported pain levels, and worsen alcohol use. A lack of empathy and increase in

judgment also decreases meaningful health disclosures, resulting in higher levels of inaccurate diagnoses.

It is not only the empathy of medical providers that impacts a patient's health, but also the empathy conveyed by the entire organization. Empathy is fundamental to the work of receptions, nurses, medical assistants and billing staff. Research has shown that empathy conveyed from support staff has a significant and measurable impact on a patient's experience and their subsequent treatment adherence and health outcomes. Not surprisingly, successfully conveying empathy on all levels of an organization also has the further benefit of lowering patient complaints, grievances and litigation rates.



For a thorough annotated bibliography of all of the research mentioned above, and much more, visit the "Stigma and Empathy" section on www.emorrisonconsulting.com and look for "The Empathy Effect Annotated Bibliography".



BARRIERS AND SUPPORTS TO EMPATHIC COMMUNICATION

Almost all of us *want* to communicate empathically. Sometimes it is natural and easy for us and, at other times, it is difficult or even seems impossible. The following is a list of some of the most common barriers to empathic communication and suggested supports for addressing them.

Lack of skills: Many of us were not raised with a lot of empathic communication, despite the fact that our parents likely loved us deeply. If our parents and caregivers didn't ask about our thoughts on things, had trouble apologizing to us, even when warranted, or dismissed and ignored our feelings, we may not have learned good empathic communication skills and we slip into these same patterns when interacting with others, as well.



Support: Just as with many other patterns we might have inherited from our parents or caregivers, once we become aware of them, we can make the choice to change them. Of course, this isn't meant to underestimate the difficulty of changing. Sometimes it can be really tough to change a pattern, especially a communication one! This is why we call empathic communication a practice.

Lack of time: While we probably don't need research to tell us - When we are hurried, our empathy ebbs low.

Support: Lack of time is a reality and also a construct of our minds. We can do our part to manage our lives and schedules so there is space to breath between things (waking up earlier), time for the unknown (traffic), allowances for others to be themselves (our toddler inspecting rocks on the way to the car). We can strive to avoid scheduling back to back meetings or phone calls, say "no" to requests when it seems possible and preferable. However, often times we do not have significant control over the pace and schedule of our personal or work lives. There are times when our personal lives are just packed full and our work lives in healthcare are dictated by difficult scheduling practices and the needs of our patients. During these times, it can be helpful to remind ourselves that "hurrying" in our minds doesn't make our bodies go any faster. We can only be one place at one time. We can practice slowing our mind down to breath and focus on the person in front of us, even if it is just for a few minutes.

Lack of focus: Often, we are distracted by thoughts in our mind that keep us from being able to be fully present in the current conversation we are in, which makes empathic communication almost impossible. Worry, above all, is what takes our minds away from the conversation we are in. When worry comes with feeling hurried, it becomes even more of an empathic barrier, as our minds are far away from the conversation in front of us.



Support: The good news and bad news of empathic communication is that we need to be present for it to do its job- connecting us to others, and others to us. Being present, as most of us know, is a lot harder than it sounds. The first step is becoming aware that our minds are elsewhere. Once we realize this, we can gently bring our minds back to the moment and to the person in front of us. We can take a breath and use our willpower to re-focus. In doing this we build up our mindfulness muscles. For those that struggle with chronic worry, this can be a very difficult thought pattern to break. There is an abundance of resources on practicing mindfulness. There are classes, apps, videos and a variety of programs to support this practice. For more on this subject and related resources, see "Empathetic Communication Resources".

Bias, stigma and judgment: Bias, stigma and negative judgments are all fundamentally a cluster of negative thoughts about another person or group of people. When we are judging someone, it is nearly impossible to feel empathy for them. In fact, empathy and judgment can be seen as a seesaw, when one goes up, the other goes down. Bias, stigma and judgment can be implicit, meaning we aren't consciously aware of them. They can also be explicit, meaning we are fully aware of them, and are choosing to keep them.

Support: Awareness is the key in countering bias, stigma and judgment. When these conditioned thoughts are implicit, we can't do anything about them. The goal is to make them explicit, so we can challenge, mitigate, counter and ultimately change them. One way to bring our implicit biases into consciousness is to remind ourselves that everyone has negative biases, stigma and judgments toward different ethnicities, ages, particular conditions, actions or characteristics- it is part of being a conditioned human. We are conditioned by our culture, family, religion, media.... the list goes on. By understanding that we all have biases, it allows us to explore what ours are. Once we are aware, we can make a decision about how we want to proceed. Most of us want to be rid of negative biases, for a number of reasons. First, almost all of us have been on the receiving end of judgment, bias, stigma too, and we know how bad it feels. Second, when we are feeling judgmental, we are unhappy too! Third, for many of us, it isn't congruent with our value system, with how we want to be. "Counter cues" are thinking corrections for negative bias, stigma and judgments. There are many different counter cues that have been heavily researched and you can begin by picking one or two that stand out to you to try. Some counter-cues to negate bias include imagining life from the other person's perspective or imagining that they may have been abused or otherwise hurt as a child. You can also try to picture the person as being from a group that we don't have biases toward. For more on bias and counter-cues, see "anger supports" below, or look at "The Empathy Effect" under Empathic Communication Resources.

Anger: When someone is angry at us, or when we are angry at someone else (or both) it is tough to have empathy. This is why it we are capable of saying mean things to even the people we love the most when we are angry. Because, when we are in a fight, we tend to feel hurt, maybe even fear or shame, and all of these emotions tend to underlie anger.





Support: Anger is complicated. It is typically what we call a secondary emotion or "masking" emotion because it always covers up more vulnerable feelings. The most common feelings anger covers up are hurt, shame, sadness and fear. It can be helpful to discern what feeling is under our anger, in order to relate to it more skillfully. However, sometimes it is important to stay angry- anger can protect us from others by keeping more vulnerable feelings at bay and pushing people away. This is important if others are a danger to us, physically or emotionally. Anger can also propel us away from unhealthy or dangerous situations. This is why anger often helps us leave unhealthy relationships.

Often though, anger doesn't serve a useful purpose for us. It is instead a reflexive defense against our feelings being hurt, feeling embarrassed or ashamed, feeling scared or sad. If we are in front of someone that we are fairly certain is not a danger to us, it is usually better to try and manage our anger and get to a place where we can communicate empathically. There are some tricks to doing this, many of them similar to the counter-cues mentioned above. For example, imagining the other person as an innocent child, identifying what you have in common with the other person, or reminding yourself that they too are vulnerable under their anger. These strategies help get our mind and hearts back into an empathic place.



What barriers to feeling empathy do you most relate to in this section?

What remedies have you found helpful for this?





CONCERNS ABOUT EMPATHIC COMMUNICATION

While it might seem like there is no downside to empathy, many of us have concerns and hesitations about both feeling empathy and communicating empathically. The following is a list of common concerns.

It will take too much time: This can be true. When we make efforts to develop empathic connections with others, it often results in people wanting to share more with us. This normally is a positive thing and something we are trying to do, whether it is in a relationship with our children, friends, or our patients. However, when we don't feel we have time to really engage and listen, it can become another source of stress. While there is no easy solution to this, it is important to consider that not using empathic communication also takes more time, because when we aren't listening or otherwise communicating empathically, others don't disclose things honestly to us, or they might repeat themselves in an attempt to feel heard or dismiss our input. One piece of information that might be comforting around this, is that an empathic connection can be formed quickly, even in interactions that last only a few minutes.

The other person will cry: This may be true. People are more apt to cry when someone is communicating empathically with them. Part of empathic communication is allowing others to express and experience their feelings. Our job is just be with them, without trying to "fix" them. If the person's tears cause us discomfort, we can make conscious decisions to work on this in ourselves, to be able to be with others who are crying and remain comfortable.

I have too much empathy already and it is draining: It is true that feeling what others are feeling can be very painful. Empathic communication encourages "cognitive empathy", which is taking the perspective of another and trying to understand where they are coming from. "Affective empathy" is feeling exactly like the other person feels. For example, feeling hopeless when they feel hopeless or feeling abandoned when they feel abandoned. This type of empathy can be very draining, and not always helpful to either person. Practicing cognitive empathy, where we listen deeply, step in to their world and imagine how they feel, without actually feeling the exact same feeling, leaves us feeling connected, not drained.

I will be a doormat: This one does not have to be true! We can say "no" empathically. As we will address below, our verbal communication (what we say) is only one piece of the puzzle. Our non-verbal communication (body language) and para-verbal communication (how we say it, such as tone of voice) also convey empathy. So, we can say "move out", empathically or "I can't talk about this anymore", empathically. We do not need to be angry to draw boundaries and set limits. In fact, often when we are more practiced at saying "no", or setting other limits, we don't feel resentful of the other person, so we can more easily empathize with them.



What concerns do you have about using empathic communication?

What have you done in the past to address these concerns?





TECHNICAL SKILLS



Listen with ears of tolerance, see with eyes of compassion, speak with the language of love.

- Rumi



OPEN ENDED QUESTIONS

Open-ended questions are considered the gold standard of communication. They are the foundation of effective assessment and are related to diagnostic accuracy, in both the behavioral health and the medical field. More generally, they are one of the core techniques of skilled interpersonal interactions, and a building block for empathic connection, in both personal and professional realms. They show curiosity, convey an interest in what others think or feel, and can make a patient (or our kids, partner, friends....) feel less guarded since they are less likely to perceive the conversation to be bound by a rigid agenda.

When questions are truly open, we don't know what we will hear next or where things might go in the conversation, and that is okay! In asking open- ended questions, we are demonstrating to others that we value their story and their perspective- not imparting our own judgment or opinions on their experience. Open-ended questions are an invitation for others to share what's on their mind, allowing us to see things from their point of view and catch a glimpse of their beliefs, values, and strengths.

Here are some open-ended question stems:

✓ <u>"Tell me more about</u>..."

Even though this is more of a request than a question, it is incredibly effective. "Tell me more" is versatile and can be used in front of any subject. It can guide the conversation to a specific place if we need it to go there, while still keeping the question open and, thus, empathetic.

✓ <u>"How</u> did you decide...?

✓ <u>"What</u> are your thoughts about...?"

Note that even though "why" is also an open-ended question stem, it isn't very effective. "Why" sounds judgmental, even when we don't mean it to be. It tends to put people on the defensive and

closes the door to a fuller conversation. Just think about what happens when we say "why" to our kids. Watch how quickly they fold their arms and shut down.

Example at work:

 <u>"Tell me more about</u> your medicines" or "What are your thoughts about smoking?"

Example at home:

 "<u>How</u> did you make that decision?" or 'Tell me more about your thoughts on that."



Open-ended questions are considered to be the "gold standard" of communication by the Institute of Medicine



What has been your experience asking open ended questions?

What has been your experience being asked open ended questions?



A QUICK WORD ON CLOSED AND NARROW QUESTIONS

Closed questions only allow for "yes" and "no", and narrow questions restrict the possible answers to one word or subject. They demonstrate that we are really concerned with our agenda, narrowing the recipient's focus to what we feel is important. Closed questions squeeze out the other person's freedom to speak about what they believe is really important concerning a given topic or subject. Narrow questions also limit dialogue and squash rapport. While they may obtain transactional information, they aren't very effective at conveying empathy.

Here are some examples of closed and narrow questions that tend to lead to one- word or otherwise restricted answers:

- X "Did you have a good day?"
- ★ "Do you get along with your mom?"
- X "Are you taking your medication?"
- ★ "How often are you taking your medications?"
- ★ "When did you meet her?"

Now, consider these closed questions:

- ★ "What classes are you taking in school?"
- * "Do you think you're ready now, or do you want to wait?"
- X "Is your medication working?"

We can observe how much more empathetic the same questions sound when framed as open questions:

- ✓ "Tell me more about your classes."
- "How do you feel about going now?"
- "What are your thoughts about how the medications are working?"



Research demonstrates a higher ratio of open-ended questions is related to diagnostic accuracy.



EMPATHIC REFLECTION

Empathic reflection involves repeating back what we have heard the other person say. This demonstrates that we are paying attention and that we want to make sure we've heard someone correctly. More importantly, it demonstrates hearing them is important to us, and that we value what they've shared. When we are very skillful in using empathic reflection, we can actually help others identify how they feel and what they think, just by interpreting and reflecting what they've said.

In practice, empathic reflection can take the place of a question, prompting someone to talk further,

without having to pose an inquiry. Empathic reflection also replaces evaluative judgments. These are statements like "that's great!" or "how horrible!". Reflecting, instead of evaluating, gives the other person the freedom to evaluate what they feel and think for themselves. By reflecting back what we've heard, we are signaling that we are "with" the person and that we are willing to suspend our own reactions to hear more about theirs.

Repeating back selected parts of what another person has said might seem counter-intuitive, and often, empathic reflection is one of the empathic communication techniques that people find most challenging. This is for good reason! While we were growing up, it is unlikely others used empathic reflection with us. Also, sometimes when it is unskillfully used in professional settings, it can sound insulting or disingenuous. However, with



Research demonstrate that using empathic reflection actually saves time during appointments. When others feel heard, they tend not to dwell on things and repeat themselves.

practice, empathic reflection can be a powerful empathic communication technique - perhaps the one with the biggest pay off for patient care outcomes (and our own personal relationships!).

Example at work - Medical Assistant speaking to a patient:

✓ You want to make sure the doctor knows the medication isn't working. You also want to ask about your lab results and to find out the status of the referral for your foot."

This is an "exact word reflection". The patient feels confident they've been heard and reassured that their issues will be addressed. The patient likely will not feel the need to repeat these things.

Example at home - Spouse speaking to partner who has disclosed multiple events at work that were distressing today:

✓ Wow, that sounds like a really tough day"

This is a "summary reflection". Summary reflections attempt to capture the general nature of what was shared, instead of reflecting back the specific list of items that were shared.



Example at home or work:

"It's been really tough for me to lose all this weight this year."

- "It's been tough...." (Selected exact word reflection)
- "Sounds like it has been hard for you." (Summary with a stem. Stems are phrases like 'Sounds like...' and 'I hear you saying....')

Unfortunately, instead of reflecting, we often use ineffective responses:

"It's been really tough for me to lose all this weight this year."

- ★ "Don't lose too much too quickly!" (Advice)
- **×** "It's wonderful that you've lost weight!" (Cheerleading)
- × "I don't think that's necessarily a good thing" (Judging)
- **×** "Don't worry, it is tough for everyone" (Reassurance and dismissing)
- ★ "You need to take better care of yourself" (Correcting)

All of these responses block the person making the statement from describing how they feel about losing so much weight.

Another common mistake is making the reflection into a question:

★ "So, you're feeling sad?"

Instead, try:

★ "I hear you're sad…"

Rest assured that if you are incorrect in your reflection, the other person will let you know, and the reflection will still have the impact of conveying empathy.

Parent speaking to child:

Parent: "I hear you're <u>sad</u>"

Child: "No, not sad, just frustrated"

Parent: "Just frustrated...."





What are your experiences with being on the other end of skillful reflective listening?



FOCUS ON STRENGTHS

Orienting our communication in a way that recognizes and validates another person's strengths benefits the relationship that we have with them in a multitude of ways. No one wants to feel as if they are a walking problem, are incapable, unable, or ineffective. When others are sharing difficulties with us, we want to first let them now we see them as fundamentally good and whole, before jumping into the problem.

By affirming strengths, we show them that we are focused and attuned to what is best about them, their inherent worth and unique abilities. This strengths perspective represents a paradigm shift in the field of healthcare. It is a move away from traditional deficit and pathology-based communication models and towards truly whole-person care.

Focusing on strengths is much harder than it sounds for most of us. We've been raised, trained and educated to follow the problem, so it usually takes quite a bit of conscious practice for most of us, to not follow the 'problem' immediately, and instead first highlight the goodness that lies beneath the concern.

Examples at work:

"I don't smoke in the car when my kids are with me."

- "You really care about the health of your children."
- Instead of: "There is likely still second hand smoke exposure" (problem focused, some judgment)

Or:

"I can't seem to stick to a diet, or exercise. It's hopeless."

- "You really want to be able to make healthy changes to your lifestyle."
- ✓ Instead of: *"Have you tried the Paleo diet?"* (problem focus, advice)

Or:

"I'm sick of waiting for 2 hours every time I come here."

- "I sure appreciate how honest you are about your feelings. I know I'd feel the same way."
- ✗ Instead of: "The doctor had a delivery at the hospital this morning" (problem focus, explaining)



Examples at home:

"I hate math!"

- "I'm amazed that you can continue to work on it even though you can't stand it. That's real grit."
- ✗ Well, it won't help to complain, you still have to just do it' (problem focus, dismissing)

Or:

"I don't know why Ethan is mad at me again. We had another argument at school."

- "You really value harmony in your friendship with him."
- ✓ Instead of: 'what was it about this time?' (problem focus, content driven)

Or:

"I feel bad about this, but sometimes I don't want to be around Grandma."

- "I'm impressed you were willing to tell me. It's often hard to talk about feelings we feel bad about."
- Instead of: 'She is your grandma. She loves you, you shouldn't feel that way' (problem focus, judgment, advice)

Imagine someone in your life that recently shared a difficulty. What would you say to affirm their strengths?



ELICITING

When someone asks for advice, it is quite tempting to jump right in and tell them what to do. Especially in healthcare, sometimes we feel the reasons people come to see us is to be told what to do! Unfortunately for those of us that are 'fixers', advice doesn't actually work very well. In fact, while there is a whole cannon of research to demonstrate this, most of us know this from our own experience.

We can though, give others information. There are a few things we can do to ensure the information we give is 1) wanted 2) timely 3) helpful. One technique to do this, is when we feel the urge to give advice, take a breath, step back and start by asking the other person what they think first. Asking others for their thoughts before we share our own often takes practice and a fair amount of discipline. It is worth the effort though- conversations that involve jumping to advice giving aren't very rewarding, as it often makes others withdraw; conversations where we ask others what they think first, tend to be richer, more interesting, and more empathic. As we say in the helping professions, if advice worked, no one would need professional care!

Examples of eliciting:

"I mean, what am I supposed to do after hearing something like that?"

- "Yes, wow. What are your initial thoughts?"
- × Instead of: 'well, first you can tell him he can't talk to you like that' (Advice)

Or:

"And now my sister is saying that my mom should move in with us! How is that possible?"

- "What are your thoughts about that?"
- × Instead of: 'You have to tell her no; that would be impossible!' (Advise)

Or:

"What do you think is causing these panic attacks?"

- "I'd love to hear your thoughts on that first. What comes to you when you've asked yourself that question?"
- ✗ "Well, panic attacks are often partly hereditary, so I suspect it runs in your family" (Expert trap)



Often, we do need to provide information to patients (or to family and friends). We may want to let a patient know about the effects of failing to lose weight or quitting drinking. We might want to let our child know what the consequences will be if he/she doesn't clean their room.

The difference between giving advice and giving information is that giving information is not telling someone what they should do. Rather, it is offering data to inform their decision. The following are 4 steps that can help us more skillfully share information.

Making sure you aren't telling someone what they already know: "what do you already know about smoking during pregnancy?"



When we give advice to others, the most common response is a defensive defiance to protect our autonomy and personal decision making.

Making sure the other person wants the information by asking permission: "Can I give you some information?" (assuming they say yes....)

Avoid the "you" pronoun when giving the information and keep it short! "What we know about smoking during pregnancy is that it can cause babies to be born underweight"

Finally, it is about asking how the information was received:

"what are your thoughts about that?".

When giving information, an easy way to remember these steps is AATA or Ask Tell Ask.

<u>Ask</u> what they already know about the subject in which you want to give information.

Ask permission to give information they don't already have.

Tell them the information, keeping it short and avoiding the 'you' pronoun when possible.

Ask them what their thoughts are on what you shared.

Here is an example at home:

<u>Ask</u>: Okay, it sounds like you really want to drop the class. What do you already know about what might happen if you do that?

Ask: Can I give you some information about that? (assuming they say yes....)

<u>Tell</u>: I'm fairly certain if you drop the class, you won't be full time anymore, and will lose your financial aid. This would be tough, as your dad and I can't help you this semester'

Ask: what are your thoughts about that?



How easy or hard is it for you to not give advice? Circle 1-10 with 10 being "impossible" and 1 being "not difficult at all". What led you to answer the number you did?

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
\sim									

How easy or hard is it for you to ask others for their thoughts on their own problems? Circle 1-10 with 10 being "impossible" and 1 being "not difficult at all". What led you to answer the number you did?

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10



NORMALIZING

Normalizing is the opposite of making something or someone, bad, wrong, or pathological. It is letting others know that they're not the only ones to have ever felt this way, done this, or had this happen to them. It is letting others know they are not alone. Maybe the same thing has happened to us, and even if it hasn't, we can effectively normalize. Normalizing strengthens the relationship, increases selfdisclosure and encourages the other person to tell us more.

These examples illustrate the difference between pathologizing and normalizing:

"I know I shouldn't, but I actually started talking to my ex-boyfriend again."

- **×** "Gosh, we've all done things we know we shouldn't. Tell me more." (Normalizing)
- X Instead of: "You know where that leads the same place every time" (Judgment).

Or:

"I've been yelling at my kids a lot lately."

- ***** *"When we are stressed, it seems to come out on those closest to us."* (Normalizing)
- X Instead of: "You can't take your stress out on them." (Judgment)

Or:

"I picked up cigarettes again last week."

- ★ "Gosh, cigarettes are so tough. We all have those things we struggle with. How are you feeling about it?" (Normalizing)
- ✗ Instead of: "Again? You've got to start taking care of yourself" (Pathologizing, Advice).

Or:

"I ended up dropping out of school this semester, it was just too much."

- "I've had to drop commitments before when I was overwhelmed too. Tell me more about it". (Normalizing)
- X Instead of: "When I was in school, I had two kids and I was working." (Shaming)



Imagine something your clients or patients often disclosed, that you have not experienced. How could you normalize this for them? Write what you might say?







ACKNOWLEDGING FEELINGS

"Never meet a feeling with a fact" is a phrase we often use to talk about acknowledging feelings.

Acknowledging feelings is one of the fundamental cornerstones of effective human interaction, although depending on our upbringing, it can be exceedingly difficult to do initially. Many of us didn't have our feeling acknowledged when we were growing up. Remember hearing comments like these?

- ★ "You don't have anything to cry about."
- X "You shouldn't be angry about this, it's nothing."
- ★ "Don't be embarrassed."
- ★ "You should be happy about...."

Hearing such remarks as kids often led us to believe that what we were feeling wasn't "real" or important. As a result, today, we may find it difficult to acknowledge our feelings, much less the feelings of others. We may continue saying similar phrases to patients and our loved ones out of habit or routine.

Acknowledging another person's feelings shows care and concern for their experiences. Often, the mere act of acknowledging someone's feelings by repeating their "feeling words" helps them feel better. It can increase their tolerance for a difficult feeling and lessen the feeling's intensity. Simply put, when our feelings are acknowledged, we feel valued and cared about. Dismissing another person's feelings does exactly the opposite. It can make someone feel alone, ignored, or shamed. Ignoring feelings also increases their intensity. Psychologists often use the phrase 'name it to tame it' when describing acknowledgement. This applies to others feelings as well as our own. This doesn't mean that we discuss all feelings deeply, or that we need to "process" all feelings, it only means that we acknowledge the feeling.

Here are some ways to acknowledge others' feelings:

"I'm so nervous about surgery.""

- ✓ *"Sounds like you have some worries about it."* (Reflection of a stated feeling)
- ✓ "You're feeling really nervous." (Reflection of a stated feeling)
- ✗ Instead of: "There's no reason to be scared. The surgeon has done this procedure 100 times." (Dismissing)



Or:

"Every time I come here, I have to wait for two hours in this waiting room!"

- × "I hear your frustration with the wait time." (Reflection of a stated feeling)
- X You must be really frustrated." (Reflection of a stated feeling)
- ✗ Instead of: "Have a seat and I will check to see when you will be called" (Ignoring the feeling, fixing)

Acknowledging the feelings of friends and family is equally important in maintain good relationships and conveying empathy. These are also the things we can regularly think about saying to ourselves.

Examples at home:

"I'm too embarrassed!"

- * "You feel really embarrassed" (Reflecting a stated feeling)
- * "This is tough for you." (Reflecting a demonstrated feeling)
- X Instead of: "Don't be embarrassed! No one even notices!" (Dismissing/Reassuring)

Or:

"I feel so hopeless."

- * "You are really feeling down..." (Reflection of an expressed feeling)
- **×** "You've had a hard time lately." (Reflection of an expressed feeling)
- Instead of: You don't have any reason to be depressed, your life is great."
 (Judging/Dismissing)





What feelings do you find you acknowledge fairly easily in others? In yourself?



BODY LANGUAGE AND TONE OF VOICE

Research shows that we tend to believe what we see in someone's body language and hear in their tone of voice more than their actual words. An "I'm sorry" with a genuine look of concern and a slight leaning in is believable. An "I'm sorry" with a surly tone and arched eyebrows is received entirely different. To this end, it is important to remember that our body language and tone of voice can naturally convey empathy when we are feeling open and caring of others. However, when we are tired, irritable, judgmental, fearful, or distracted it takes some extra conscious thinking to manage our body language and tone.

We know quite a bit about what types of body language and tone of voice convey empathy (whether we are feeling it that day or not) from cross cultural research.

Eye contact provides the most powerful non-verbal way to convey empathy. Maintaining eye contact becomes more difficult as we become more familiar with others. As a result,

our families often get the least amount of eye contact of all. Initial eye contact when a patient walks up to reception, or when a provider walks into a room, must happen within the first few seconds for it to be effective.

Smiling is one of the only ways we can convey goodwill to someone non-verbally. Smiling is incredibly powerful in conveying empathy and has been researched extensively. It has been written about by many spiritual leaders of different traditions. It is sometimes referred to as "holding hands" without touching.

Open body posture that is "squared" to the other person conveys engagement and care. Crossed arms or side positioning can indicate disengagement or judgment. Likewise, leaning slightly forward, when sitting or standing, conveys empathy. On the other hand, leaning back conveys a lack of engagement and, in some circumstances, judgment, as well.



Studies have found that

when we are communicating

with someone, words only

account for 7% of the overall

message. Tone of voice

accounts for 38% and body

language accounts for the

remaining 55%.

Voice Tone, as well as pitch and pacing that conveys warmth and sincerity demonstrates care goodwill, and sincerity.



Can you think of a statement or comment that can be interpreted or received vastly differently depending on voice tone?





PUTTING IT ALL TOGETHER

Those of us in healthcare entered the profession to help and we typically go to great lengths to continually learn and grow in our skills as helpers. Spending time learning, enhancing and practicing our empathetic communication skills is an investment in our professional effectiveness, as well as in our most cherished personal relationships. We can also practice empathic communication when we talk to ourselves!

Here are a few additional examples that tie together the techniques in this guide.

Example 1

"Sometimes in the morning, I look in the mirror and I just hate myself."

"(With empathetic tone of voice and body language) Ah, you sound angry at yourself (Acknowledgement). Many of us have felt that way before (Normalizing).
 I appreciate your willingness to share this with me (Strengths focus). Tell me more about how you feel (Open-ended question)."

Example 2

"I can't stand checking my blood sugar!"

You really dislike it (Acknowledgement, reflection). It must be such a chore to have to do it every day (Acknowledgment). I'm so impressed that you actually continue to do it. Your health must be really important to you (Strengths focus). Tell me more about your experience with it (Open-ended question)."



Research shows that responding empathically to good news correlates to happiness in intimate relationships.

Example 3

"I can't lose weight. I've tried everything, and nothing works."

 "(With empathetic tone of voice and body language) You've tried everything (Reflection). It must be so frustrating that nothing has worked (Acknowledgment).
 I'm amazed you've continued to try so many things (Strengths focus). What are your thoughts about your weight now (Open- ended question)?"



Example 4

"I got a job interview!"

 "You got an interview! (Reflection). You must have done a lot of footwork to make that happen! (Strengths focus). How are you feeling? (Open-ended question)."

Think about a recent conversation that you wish you had handled differently. Write what you wish you would have said, using some of the skills outlined above.

Consider a recent conversation where you wish someone had understood you better or had heard what you were saying. Write what you wish they would've said to you.



10 TIPS FOR EMPATHIC COMMUNICATION

- **1.** Use advice and reassurance sparingly. Although both usually come from a place of caring, both can also convey that we don't want to hear any more from the other person; that we instead want to "fix" their feelings, tell them what to do, and be done with it.
- 2. Use open-ended questions, encouraging the other person to share their thoughts and feelings. Closed questions tend to shut the conversation down.
- 3. Use cheerleading sparingly. Cheerleading ("that is great!" or "how awesome!") is wellmeaning, and most of us are in the habit of using it quite a bit. Cheerleading, however, doesn't invite others to share with us how they feel about their accomplishments. When we do feel the desire to give positive feedback, we can provide others with specific praise, such as "I'm so impressed by the effort and time you put into your homework."
- 4. Acknowledge the other person's feelings before trying to 'fix' anything. This creates a positive bond, and often if we do this well, we don't need to "fix" anything!
- 5. Avoid "control words", like "should", "must", "have to", "need to". As human beings, we have a natural tendency to protect our autonomy. When we hear words that tell us what we 'must' do, we tend to resist.
- 6. Practice focusing on the strength that underlies the other person's disclosure. Focusing on strengths before addressing the difficulty that has been shared is a very impactful way of showing empathy and goodwill.
- 7. Avoid qualifying responses with a "but" as this will often signify a shift from an empathetic response to judgment or advice-giving. For example, resist "You've done so well on your weight loss this year, but you still need to work on the smoking."
- 8. Consciously use body language and voice tone to convey empathy. Remember that so much of what we are communicating is being conveyed through body language and tone of voice.
- **9.** Engage in empathic reflection. This allows the other person to know that their thoughts and feelings are important to us, and that we are truly hearing them.
- **10. Practice, repair and practice again!** Enhancing empathetic communication is enriching for our patients, our loved ones, and ourselves!



Think about a recent conversation that you wish you had handled Write what you wish you would have said, using some of the skills	-
11.	
12.	
13.	
14.	
15.	





EMPATHETIC PRESENCE



When you are in psychological distress and someone really hears you without passing judgement on you, without trying to take responsibility for you, without trying to mold you, it feels damn good! *- Carl Rogers*

Consulting

EMPATHIC PRESENCE

Empathic Presence refers to the spirit we bring our interactions. It is more of a quality than a technique.

It is a willingness and intention to:

- Listen without an agenda
- To just be with someone, in their struggles
- Be in a space of total acceptance of another
- Drop any thoughts of trying to change how another feels
- Drop any thoughts of what another's feelings might have to do with us
- Be curious about another's experience

Most of us have been in this place with others - both in giving and receiving empathic presence. It is rare enough that we usually remember those moments very clearly. They leave an impact on us! One participant in an empathic communication workshop said "once you have experienced someone being empathically present with you, who totally accepts you, isn't trying to fix you or change you, we can then do this for others".

Reflect on and write on a time when you felt totally accepted and seen by another.



Likewise, we have all experienced times that lacked an empathic presence.

Reflect on and write about a time when you were vulnerable and felt ignored, dismissed, or judged.

Reflect and write about a time in which someone confided in you and you tried to rescue/save/protect/change/fix/control them. What were you feeling or experiencing that kept you from responding in a more helpful way? (hint; often, it is fear, sadness, feeling rushed or judgment...)



WHAT TO DO WHEN WE DON'T FEEL THE EMPATHIC PRESENCE

There are going to be times when conveying an empathic presence is difficult. As we have discussed throughout this guide, it can depend on many different personal and work factors. The good news is that we can use empathic communication techniques even when we aren't feeling empathic. In fact, there are a few good reasons to do so.

- **1. Fake it till you make it:** The first is that sometimes by "acting as if" we are feeling empathic, by using empathic communication techniques, we actually start to feel empathy. The techniques themselves tend to help others bring their guard down, soften a bit, making them easier for us to feel for them.
- 2. Decreasing anger: If we are in a situation where someone is angry, defensive, argumentative or irritable, we likely aren't feeling empathy, however using these techniques can be useful in helping them de-escalate. Often as a result, we start to feel empathy for them as well.
- 3. Professional duty: We don't refuse patients appointments, withhold flu shots, or refuse to refill medications, just because we don't feel empathic toward them. In the same way, we don't want to withhold empathic communications just because when we don't empathize with them. Because communication has such a big impact on health outcomes, even when we don't feel empathy, we have an ethical, and professional, obligation to communicate in a way that we know will support others' health. As in the first two, often this changes the interaction enough that we start to feel for them anyway.



EMPATHIC COMMUNICATION RESOURCES

The Institute for Health Care Communication has several empathy-based workshops for healthcare professionals. The newest one, "The Empathy Effect: Countering Bias to Improve Health Outcomes" was co-created by Elizabeth Morrison and Michele Nanchoff. You can find more information about The Empathy Effect and the IHC's other workshops, as well as their Train the Trainer Courses at: <u>www.healthcarecomm.org</u>. Under "bibliographies" you will find "The Empathy Effect" bibliography, which contains all the research cited in this guide.

Elizabeth Morrison has a website just for resources, which includes tools, research, slide decks and other resources on empathy and stigma, among other subjects. This website can be found at: **www. emorrisonconsulting.com**. If you would like to receive my newsletter, you can sign up here as well.

William Miller, of Motivational Interviewing fame, wrote a wonderful book recently, which compliments this guide. It is a very short, slim book called <u>Listening Well</u>: The Art of Empathic Understanding.

The Greater Good Science Center is one of my all-time favorite organizations. They study empathy and its' opposite – bias. They also study gratitude, happiness, awe, grit, and a whole host of other positive emotions. There is a specific focus on interpersonal communication and they offer many mini-exercises and practices around this. Mindfulness is an area of focus as well, and they offer many free resources in this area, including podcasts and videos.

The Language of Caring is an organization dedicated to spreading the practice of empathic care in healthcare. They offer trainings, videos, webinars and workshops, many of which are free or low cost. Their e-newsletter "Heartbeat" is excellent.





Please feel free to reach out!

If you'd like to be on my mailing list, you can sign up at www.emorrisonconsulting.com or you can just email me and let me know!



Elizabeth Morrison

elizabeth@emorrisonconsulting.com

- (209) 769-3923
- www.emorrisonconsulting.com

m www.linkedin.com/in/elizabeth-morrison-consulting/